The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Honors College

Spring 2019

Determining Key Residues of the Lyt-R Domain in the Streptococcal CpsA Protein

Mohammad Hashmi University of Maine

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors Part of the <u>Microbiology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Hashmi, Mohammad, "Determining Key Residues of the Lyt-R Domain in the Streptococcal CpsA Protein" (2019). *Honors College*. 516. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/honors/516

This Honors Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors College by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine. For more information, please contact um.library.technical.services@maine.edu.

DETERMINING KEY RESIDUES OF THE LYTR DOMAIN IN THE

STREPTOCOCCAL CPSA PROTEIN

by

Mohammad Fazeel Hashmi

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for a Degree with Honors (Microbiology)

The Honors College

University of Maine

May 2019

Advisory Committee:

David Gross, PhD, Adjunct Associate Professor in Honors, Honors College Robert Gundersen, PhD, Chair and Associate Professor, Molecular and Biomedical Sciences Melissa Maginnis, PhD, Assistant Professor of Microbiology, Molecular and Biomedical Sciences Melody N. Neely, PhD, Associate Professor, Molecular and Biomedical Sciences, Thesis Advisor John Singer, PhD, Professor of Microbiology, Molecular and Biomedical Sciences ©2019 Mohammad Hashmi

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Streptococcus agalactiae or Group B Streptococcus (GBS), is a Gram-positive commensal bacterium that is harmless in healthy adults, yet causes systemic diseases in neonates, the elderly, and immunocompromised individuals. Neonates are at risk of GBS infection in utero or during delivery due to the colonization of the organism in the vaginal canal of between 15-30% of adult females. GBS can cause severe neonatal sepsis and meningitis, as well as chorioamnionitis, which can cause premature birth and stillbirth. GBS infection is greatly facilitated by the presence of a bacterial capsule; a protective, polysaccharide matrix surrounding the cell that plays a key role in the pathogen's ability to evade host immune responses. Antibiotics are effective in reducing the chances of neonatal infection by GBS; however, they also increase the likelihood of the organism developing antibiotic resistance. An approach to manipulate GBS and reduce its functionality would be beneficial to counter the potential of antibiotic resistance developments, while avoiding the cytotoxic effects that antibiotics can impose on the host.

The GBS CpsA protein, a putative transcriptional regulator of the capsule locus within the GBS genome, plays a significant role in capsule production. Without CpsA, GBS displays reduced capsule production, and thus, reduced virulence. In this study Aspartic Acid-375 and Arginine-378 were targeted in the LytR domain of CpsA, a domain proposed to be responsible for the ligation of capsule to the cell wall of GBS. This work will provide insight into which amino acids are the key residues required for the function of CpsA.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The completion of this thesis would not have been possible without the support, guidance, and contributions of many individuals. Foremost, I would like to express an immeasurable amount of gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Melody Neely, for her knowledge, guidance, patience, and unwavering faith in my ability to conduct research. Through each research obstacle, Dr. Neely shared a heavy hand in teaching me how to think critically, and therefore grow as a researcher.

I would also like to thank the current members of the Neely lab for their contributions to my experimental techniques and several laboratory protocols. Thank you to Atefeh Rajaei, Ashley Soucy, Katie Patenaude, Caitlin Tetteh, Sydney Green, and Ben Tero.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for the supportive roles they played in helping me to complete this thesis. Their encouragement and emotional support was vital to my development as a student.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Streptococcus agalactiae	1
1.2 Peptidoglycan	2
1.3 Group B Streptococcus Capsule	2
1.4 CpsA Protein	3
1.5 Previous Research	4
1.6 Research Objective	7
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	8
2.1 Plasmid Construction	8
2.1.1 Plasmid Preparation	8
2.1.2 Splicing by Overlap Extension – Polymerase Chain Reaction (SOE-PC	R)8
2.1.3 Electrotransformation of Escherichia coli	9
2.1.4 Colony PCR and Plasmid Analysis	10
2.2 Electrotransformation of Streptococcus agalactiae	11
2.3 Microscopy	11
2.4 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	12
2.5 Fluorescent Vancomycin Assay	13
2.6 Zebrafish Immune Response Assay	13
2.6.1 Preparation	13
2.6.2 Bacterial Dosage	14
2.6.3 Inoculum Dose Verification	14
2.6.4 Microinjections into the Yolk Sac	14
3. RESULTS	16
3.1 Chain Length Analysis using Microscopy	16
3.2 Capsule Quantification through an Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay	19
3.3 Changes in Cell Wall Morphology	20
3.4 Zebrafish Survivability Assay	21
4. DISCUSSION	24

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	4
Figure 2	6
Figure 3	6
Figure 4	
Figure 5	
Figure 6	
Figure 7	
Figure 8	

1. INTRODUCTION

<u>1.1 Streptococcus agalactiae</u>

Streptococcus agalactiae, or Group B Streptococcus (GBS), is a Gram-positive commensal bacterium that normally grows in short chains of two to five cocci (1). In approximately 30% of healthy adults, GBS is an asymptomatic colonizer of the gastrointestinal tract, genitourinary tract, and additionally in women, the vaginal canal (2). Although asymptomatic and harmless in healthy adults, GBS is an opportunistic pathogen that can cause systemic diseases in neonates, the elderly, and immunocompromised individuals (3). Regardless of modern prophylactics, GBS is the leading cause of neonatal sepsis in high-income countries (4). In newborns, GBS can also cause meningitis, chorioamnionitis, and pneumonia (5). GBS infections are also a cause of preterm delivery, antepartum and postpartum stillbirth, and puerperal sepsis (6). Neonatal infection by GBS can be characterized as either being early-onset or late-onset. Early-onset GBS infections (0-6 days) stem from vertical transmission of the pathogen from mother to child before or during delivery through bacterial particles present within the amniotic fluid. Late-onset GBS infections (7-89 days) occur after delivery and are acquired from the mother or the environment (7). Current practices to reduce transmission of GBS to newborns include screening and intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis using penicillin (8). Despite being effective, antibiotic administration can pose major threats to the development of both the newborn's gut microbiota as well as their immune system (9).

1.2 Peptidoglycan

Gram positive organisms, such as GBS, contain a cell wall consisting of a thick peptidoglycan layer, cell wall-associated teichoic acids, capsular polysaccharide (CPS) and other associated proteins. The peptidoglycan of the cell wall is made up of repeated N-acetylglucosamine (NAG) and N-acetylmuramic acid (NAM), with several peptides and proteins attached via cross-linking or covalent and non-covalent interactions. The thick peptidoglycan layer also plays a major role in protecting the bacterial cell membrane. Importantly, anionic teichoic acids are scattered throughout the peptidoglycan, functioning to provide cell wall integrity, as well as granting the cell surface an overall negative charge (10). The peptidoglycan primarily acts as a scaffold for adherence and/or anchoring for several proteins and peptides. Many of these cell wallassociated proteins interact with the extracellular environment, working to maintain the functionality of the cell, while also protecting the cell from external threats. A major player in the protection of GBS is the capsular polysaccharide (CPS), which acts as the outermost layer of the cell surface, providing the cell with additional protection and structural integrity (11).

1.3 Group B Streptococcus Capsule

GBS infection is primarily facilitated by the presence of a bacterial capsule, a protective, polysaccharide matrix surrounding the cell that plays a key role in the ability of the pathogen to evade host immune responses, to bind to host cells, and to penetrate host tissues. The GBS capsule consists of capsular polysaccharides (CPS) which are covalently bound to the N-acetylglucosamine peptides of peptidoglycan (10). The enzyme(s) that covalently add and ligate CPS to the N-acetylglucosamine peptide have

not been determined in GBS and therefore elucidating the enzymatic process is one of the key objectives of this study. There are approximately nine antigenically distinct serotypes of GBS CPS, each consisting of various arrangements of galactose, glucose, GlcNAc, and sialic acids, such as *N*-acetylneuraminic acid (12). *N*-acetylneuraminic acid, commonly found in human and mammalian cells, allows for GBS to employ host-cell molecular mimicry, a means of avoiding recognition and phagocytosis by host immune cells (13).

The production and regulation of GBS capsule is key to the virulence and survival of the organism. CpsA is a putative transcriptional regulator protein of the capsule locus and is likely responsible for GBS capsule synthesis and ligation to the outer cell wall (1).

1.4 CpsA Protein

CpsA is a putative transcriptional regulator of the capsule locus in the GBS genome and is encoded by *cpsA*. This protein is common to all serotypes of GBS and belongs to the LytR-CpsA-Psr (LCP) protein family. The LCP protein family is associated with cell wall maintenance, stability, and carbohydrate linkage (1). The CpsA protein contains an intracellular DNA-binding domain, three transmembrane domains, an extracellular accessory domain, and an extracellular LytR domain (Figure 1). The LytR domain is a putative phosphotransferase that is likely involved in capsular attachment and cell wall stability. The CpsA protein is highly conserved in other Streptococcus species, including *Streptococcus pneumonia* and *Streptococcus iniae*, and is shown to play a bifunctional role in capsule expression and cell wall stability (1).



Figure 1. *CpsA protein structure*. Diagram displaying the DNA-Binding domain (N-terminus), three transmembrane domains (red), Accessory Domain (Purple), and LytR Domain (Green).

1.5 Previous Research

The CpsA protein has been demonstrated to regulate the transcription of the capsule locus (10), although the mechanism of this is not known. Previous research showed that the deletion of *cpsA* in *S. agalactiae* and *S. iniae* resulted in a myriad of pleiotropic effects (14). The deletion caused a decrease in levels of CPS production and microscopy analysis revealed that $\Delta cpsA$ GBS displayed a long-chain phenotype. Whether the long-chain phenotype is a result of decreased capsule is unknown, however it is predicted that CpsA-dependent changes to the cell wall are responsible for differences in chain lengths between wild-type and $\Delta cpsA$ GBS (1).

CpsA plays a vital role in the virulence of GBS. Rowe et al, demonstrated that in the absence of CpsA, GBS virulence was attenuated in a zebrafish model. Zebrafish were inoculated with a wild-type strain of GBS 515, and after six days post-infection only 8% survived. This was compared against $\Delta cpsA$ GBS 515-inoculated zebrafish, which after six days post-infection displayed a viability of 68% (1).

Cps2A is a *Streptococcus pneumoniae* protein analogous to CpsA. Both proteins are highly conserved (50% identical and 69% amino acid similarity), with exceptions to a

few differences in amino acids (1). Kawai et al, was able to characterize the Cps2A protein and solve the crystal structure to visualize the two extracellular domains (Figure 2). The goal of the study was to determine Cps2A functionality through the visualization of the folded protein structure and its amino acid residues (11). The crystal structure displays that both the Accessory and LytR domains fold independently of one another and that a buried decaprenyl-phosphate lipid is present in the LytR active site. The function of the buried lipid is not known; however, it may play an integral part in the ligation of CPS to the cell wall. Key residues that interact with the phosphate headgroup of the decaprenyl-phosphate lipid to maintain its stability are R267, R362, and R374 (Figure 3). These residues form key interactions with the phosphate oxygens to create a positively charged pocket in the surface of the protein (11). D371 and Q378 interact with the arginine residues to stabilize their conformations (Figure 3). In GBS, these residues are shifted slightly, but are predicted to maintain similar interactions.



Figure 2. Crystal structure of Cps2A extracellular domains in Streptococcus pneumoniae. The Accessory Domain (red) folds separately from the LytR Domain (green). The LytR Domain displays a buried decaprenyl-phosphate (carbon atoms are yellow, phosphorous is orange, and oxygen is red) (11).



Figure 3. *Lipid binding by the LCP domain of Cps2A in Streptococcus pseudomonas.* Figure displays the decaprenyl-phosphate binding to Cps2A, as well as the two key residues of this study: D371 and R374 (D375 and R378 in GBS) (11).

1.6 Research Objective

The primary objective of this study is to gain insight into the functions of CpsA through LytR mutations. To test the hypothesis that there are key amino acid residues of the LytR Domain essential to the functionality of CpsA, point-mutations at Aspartic Acid-375 and Arginine-378 (correlating to D371 and R374 in *S. pneumoniae*) of the LytR domain will be generated in GBS. The effects of these point mutations will help elucidate the functions of key residues within the LytR domain and help determine if they are essential for GBS capsule production or capsular attachment to the cell wall. The findings of this study may contribute to future medical approaches to treating and preventing GBS infections. In determining which amino acids are essential to CpsA and capsule regulation, researchers could develop a targeted therapy that reduces GBS virulence and promotes the normal function of the innate immune system.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Plasmid Construction

2.1.1 Plasmid Preparation

The pLZ12-*rofA*-pro shuttle vector (can replicate in *E. coli* and *Streptococci*) containing a Chloramphenicol resistance marker was provided by Dr. Melody Neely (University of Maine, Orono, Maine, USA). The plasmid underwent a restriction enzyme digestion in order to prepare it for ligation. The plasmid was digested with Bam*HI* and *Pst*I and was verified to be ~4500bp by gel electrophoresis on a 0.8% agarose gel. The digested plasmid was then gel isolated using a GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific).

2.1.2 Splicing by Overlap Extension – Polymerase Chain Reaction (SOE-PCR)

cpsA mutations D375A and R378A were created in the *cpsA* gene of GBS using a three-reaction PCR procedure (SOE-PCR) to create a mutant *cpsA* fragment. The first PCR used GBS genomic DNA as template with primers 5' GBS-CpsA-RBS-BamHI and 3' CpsA-D375A-R378A and Q5 High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase. Following the PCR, the reaction was verified to be ~1145bp using gel electrophoresis on a 0.8% agarose gel and the band was extracted and purified using a GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). The purified mutant *cpsA* DNA fragment (Fragment 1) was stored in a 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube at 4°C.

The second PCR used GBS genomic DNA as template, primers 5' CpsA-D375A-R378A and 3' GBS-cpsA-full-PstI and Q5 High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (New England BioLabs). Following the PCR, the reaction was verified to be ~350bp using gel electrophoresis on a 0.8% agarose gel and the band was extracted and purified using a GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). The purified mutant *cpsA* DNA fragment (Fragment 2) was stored in a 1.5mL microcentrifuge tube at 4°C.

In the final PCR, a SOE reaction was performed to create the full mutant *cpsA*. Fragment 1 and Fragment 2 were used as template with outside primers 5' GBS-CpsA-RBS-BamHI and 3' GBS-cpsA-full-PstI and Q5 High-Fidelity DNA Polymerase (New England BioLabs). Following the PCR, the reaction was verified to be ~1470bp using gel electrophoresis on a 0.8% agarose gel and the band was excised and purified using a GeneJET Gel Extraction Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). Once purified, the full-length mutant *cpsA* fragment was digested with *Bam*HI and *Pst*I using the same protocol as listed in *2.1.1 Plasmid Preparation*. The digested mutant *cpsA* DNA fragment was then ligated with the digested pLZ12-rofA-pro vector from protocol *2.1.1*. In addition, a negative control consisting of just the digested vector and no mutant *cpsA* was also ligated. The ligation reaction mixtures were incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. After the ligation reactions, any remaining salts in the products were removed using butanol precipitation.

2.1.3 Electrotransformation of Escherichia coli

Competent *Escherichia coli* were provided by Dr. Melody Neely (University of Maine, Orono, Maine, USA) and used as a primary means of transformation to complete the previous ligation reactions and seal any DNA nicks. 40 microliters of electrocompetent *E. coli* cells were mixed with 5uL of the ligated mutant *cpsA* plasmid Electrotransformation was performed using a Gene Pulser II Electroporation System (BIO-RAD) set to 2.5μ m, 2.5kV, and 200Ω . The electroporated cells were immediately transferred into 1 mL of SOC medium and incubated at 37°C for 1.5 hours in a shaking water bath. Following the incubation, the transformant groups and negative control were plated on LB agar plates supplemented with Chloramphenicol (20μ g/mL) to select for transformants.

2.1.4 Colony PCR and Plasmid Analysis

Several transformed colonies were selected and used in a colony PCR to confirm the presence of the *cpsA* gene using Dreamtaq Green PCR Mastermix (ThermoFisher Scientific) and primers 5' GBS-CpsA-RBS-BamHI and 3' GBS-cpsA-full-PstI. After performing the colony PCRs, the reactions were verified for size through gel electrophoresis on a 0.8% agarose gel. Band length results were compared against a 1kb ladder, and a positive and negative control. Colonies that were verified to contain the mutant *cpsA* plasmid were inoculated into Luria Broth (LB) with Chloramphenicol (20ug/mL) and used in a plasmid preparation using the Hi-Pure Plasmid Midiprep Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific). Following plasmid isolation, the concentration of each plasmid DNA was analyzed using a NanoDrop OneC Microvolume UV-Vis Spectrophotometer (ThermoFisher Scientific). The products were then sequenced by Patty Singer (University of Maine Sequencing Facility, Orono, Maine, USA) to verify that the mutant plasmid contains the D375A and R378A mutations and no other mutations in the *cpsA* sequence.

2.2 Electrotransformation of *Streptococcus agalactiae*

Wild-Type and Δ CpsA Group B *Streptococcus* 515 cultures were grown overnight at 37°C in Todd-Hewitt Yeast Broth (THYB) supplemented with 80 mM of Glycine. The overnight cultures were then diluted into 25mL of THYB supplemented with 80 mM of Glycine at a dilution rate of 1:20. The subcultures were grown in a shaking water bath at 37°C to an OD600 of 0.400 and then harvested by centrifugation, washed three times with 10 mL off chilled 10% glycerol, and resuspended in 1mL of chilled 10% glycerol, followed by incubation on ice. The mutant plasmid was transformed into Wild-Type GBS 515 and into Δ CpsA GBS 515 using 3uL of the plasmid DNA and 200uL of the GBS cells. Electroporation was performed with a Gene Pulser II Electroporation System (BIO-RAD) at 25µm, 2.0kV, and 400 Ω . The electroporated cells were immediately transferred to 10mL of fresh THYB medium and allowed to recover for 90 minutes at 37°C before plating on THY agar with 3ug/mL of Chloramphenicol. Two negative controls were also electroporated, consisting of either Wild-Type or Δ CpsA GBS 515 cells and no added plasmid.

2.3 Microscopy

Light microscopy was performed on Wild-Type GBS 515, Δ CpsA GBS 515, Wild-Type GBS 515 + pCpsA Mutant, and Δ CpsA GBS 515 + pCpsA Mutant strains using a compound microscope (Zeiss Axiostar), visualized at a magnification of 1000X. Five fields of view for each strain were saved in JPEG format and the average cocci per chain was calculated manually.

2.4 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Overnight cultures of each experimental strain (Wild-Type GBS 515, Δ CpsA GBS 515, Wild-Type + mutant plasmid, and Δ CpsA + mutant plasmid) were grown in 10mL THYB supplemented with Chloramphenicol(3ug/mL).

Pre-absorption of the secondary antibody was performed by mixing 2.5mL of both Wild-Type and Δ CpsA GBS 515, followed by centrifugation and resuspension in 1mL of Tris-Buffered Saline (TBS). Secondary antibody (goat, anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to alkaline phosphatase) was added at a 1:100 dilution and incubated at 4°C for 1 hour on a rotator. After the incubation, cells were pelleted by centrifugation and the supernatant was collected and filtered with a 0.22µm syringe filter. This resulted in obtaining ~1mL of 1:100 pre-adsorbed secondary antibody.

The remaining overnight cell cultures were normalized to an OD600 of 0.750. Normalized samples were then pelleted via centrifugation, resuspended in 1mL TBST, and vortexed. The samples were pelleted again via centrifugation and resuspended in mL TBST. Primary antibody (rabbit - anti-serotype 1a) at a final dilution of 1:20,000 was added and incubated at 4°C on a rotator for 1 hour. Cells were pelleted via centrifugation and washed three times with TBST, vortexing after each wash. The cells were resuspended in 1mL of TBS-T. Next, the pre-adsorbed secondary antibody was added to each cell sample to a final dilution of 1:5,000. The cell samples were then incubated at 4°C for 1 hour on a rotator. Following the incubation, cell samples were pelleted via centrifugation and then washed three times with TBST. The cells were then resuspended in 1mL of TBS-T. Following this, an alkaline phosphatase assay was performed on all reactions in a 96-well plate, using pNPP as substrate and 50uL of cells per well. Assays

were performed in triplicate at no dilution, a 1:2 dilution, and a 1:4 dilution. Following the addition of cells and pNPP to each well, the contents of the 96-well plate were incubated in the dark at room temperature for 1 hour. The plate was then read at OD405 and OD600 using a 96 Microplate Reader (VersaMax).

2.5 Fluorescent Vancomycin Assay

Overnight cultures of negative control groups (Wild-Type GBS 515 and Δ CpsA GBS 515) and mutant plasmid *cpsA* in GBS 515 Wild-Type and Δ CpsA, were grown in THYB with 3ug/mL of chloramphenicol). Overnight cultures were subcultured into THYB+Chloramphenicol (3ug/mL) and grown to mid-log phase (OD600=0.300). The cultures were then concentrated to an OD600 of 1.0. Ten microliters of the cultures were incubated with 1ug/uL of BODIPY_FL Vancomycin (ThermoFisher Scientific) at 37°C to allow for the incorporation of the fluorescent stain into newly formed cell walls. The cell cultures were then washed three times in Phosphate-Buffered Saline (PBS) and then resuspended in 3uL PBS. Cells treated with fluorescent vancomycin were observed as a wet mount at 1000X on a fluorescent microscope (Zeiss Axiostar).

2.6 Zebrafish Immune Response Assay

2.6.1 Preparation

Zebrafish were bred and 2-day old embryos were used for infections. The day before injecting zebrafish larvae, overnight cultures of Wild-Type GBS 515 with pLZ12*rofA*-pro vector, Δ CpsA GBS 515 with pLZ12-*rofA*-pro vector, and Δ CpsA GBS 515 with the mutant *cpsA* plasmid were grown in THYB broth supplemented with Chloramphenicol (3ug/mL).

2.6.2 Bacterial Dosage

Overnight bacterial cultures were subcultured at a dilution of 1:20 into THYB supplemented with Chloramphenicol (3ug/mL). Subcultures were incubated at 37°C until the culture reached the mid-log phase of growth. Subcultures were normalized to an OD600 of 0.225. Following normalization, 1 mL of each cell sample was pelleted via centrifugation at 14,000 RPM for 5 minutes. The supernatant was then removed, and the pellet was resuspended in 1 mL of sterile THYB. The sample was pelleted and resuspended again in the same manner and then placed on ice. The cell samples should now be at a concentration of 1 x 10^8 CFU/mL.

2.6.3 Inoculum Dose Verification

Each of the tested groups were serially diluted out to 10⁻⁷ and 100uL of the 10⁻⁶ and 10⁻⁷ dilutions were plated on THY Agar-Chloramphenicol (3ug/mL) plates. The plates were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in 5% CO2 and then counted to verify that the concentration of the cell samples were 1x10⁸ CFU/mL.

2.6.4 Microinjections into the Yolk Sac

Dechorionated embryos were anesthetized by placing them in 25 mL of fish embryo water supplemented with 2mL of Tricaine. A microinjector needle was cut and calibrated to release ~1nL of the cell suspension per injection. Fish were injected with 100 CFU (1nL of 1x10^8 CFU/mL) of each strain or with sterile media as a negative control. Once the needle was loaded with the correct dose + 0.1% phenol red, anesthetized fish embryos were stabilized in methylcellulose on an agar injection plate. The fish were then injected in the lower part of their yolk sacs and washed into fresh fish water without tricaine to rinse off the methylcellulose. The fish were then immediately placed into a well of a 6-well plate. This procedure was repeated for each of the tested groups, using 20 zebrafish larvae for each experimental group and 10 zebrafish larvae for the negative control group (sterile media). The zebrafish were then incubated at 27-29°C and monitored for survival over a period of 72 hours, removing any dead larvae as the monitoring progressed.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Chain Length Analysis using Microscopy

GBS chain lengths are dependent on cell wall interactions (14). For this reason, if the LytR Domain mutations influence cell wall stability and CpsA ligation to the cell wall, then a change in chain length phenotype may be displayed in the mutant GBS strain. Analysis of the chain lengths of each experimental strain of GBS 515 revealed that the wild-type chain length frequency (Figure 4A) remained consistent with the expected short-chain phenotype. As demonstrated in previous research (1), the $\Delta cpsA$ GBS chain length frequency (Figure 4B) remained consistent with the expected long-chain phenotype. Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* (Figure 4C) and $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant*cpsA* (Figure 4D) strains exhibited short-chain phenotypes. A comparison of the average chain length between experimental groups (Figure 5E) displayed that the wild-type GBS strain had an average chain length of ~2.79 cocci, which is consistent with the normal amount of cocci seen in wild-type GBS (1). The $\Delta cpsA$ GBS strain had an average chain length of ~9.92 cocci, consistent with the long chain phenotype seen in the *cpsA* deletion strain (8). Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* strain had an average chain length of ~ 3.84 cocci and the $\Delta cpsA$ pmutantcpsA strain had an average chain length of ~2.9 cocci. Statistical analysis of the data reveals that the average chain length of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA strain complimented the average chain length of the wild-type GBS strain. Additionally, the data revealed that the increase in average chain length of the Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA*, as compared to the wild-type strain, are statistically significant; However, with an average chain length of 3.84, the Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* strain has a chain length of between 2 and 4 cocci,

which is in the range of a normal, short-chain phenotype as exhibited by wild-type in a previous study (1). The short-chain phenotypes demonstrated by the mutant *cpsA* strains of GBS suggest that the D375A and R378A mutations are not effective in altering the functionality of the LytR Domain and therefore the cell wall interactions of GBS.



Figure 4. Chain length frequency of experimental GBS 515 strains. Five fields of view per group were analyzed to calculate the chain length distribution of each experimental group. A) Chain length frequency of Wild-Type GBS 515 strain containing an empty plasmid. B) Chain length frequency of $\triangle cpsA$ GBS 515 strain containing an empty plasmid. C) Chain length frequency of Wild-Type GBS 515 strain containing a mutant



cpsA plasmid. D) Chain length frequency of the $\triangle cpsA$ GBS 515 strain containing a mutant *cpsA* plasmid.



microscopy was performed. Five fields of view for each experimental group were visualized and the average number of cocci per chain was calculated (E). WT-pempty has an average chain length of 2.79 cocci, $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty has an average chain length of 9.92 cocci, WT-pmutant*cpsA* has an average chain length of 3.84 cocci, and $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant*cpsA* has an average chain length of 2.90 cocci. Error bars represent the standard error. **, P<0.01. N.S., P=0.695.

3.2 Capsule Quantification through an Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

An Indirect Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) was used to quantify the amount of capsule expressed in the experimental GBS 515 groups. If the D375A and R378A mutations were effective in reducing capsule production or capsular ligation to the cell wall, then there should be an overall decrease in capsule expression when comparing the mutant strains of GBS to the wild-type strain. ELISA results of each experimental GBS 515 group revealed that Wild-Type-pempty has significantly more capsule present than $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty (Figure 6). The Wild-Type-pmutant cpsA GBS strain displayed an expression of 5992.29 capsular units and the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA GBS strain displayed an expression of 6280.153 capsular units. In comparison to the Wild-Type-pempty strain, which expressed 6514.8 capsular units, the capsular levels of the Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* and the $\triangle cpsA$ -pmutant*cpsA* strains were decreased, however the decreases were not statistically significant to confirm a correlation by the effects of the mutations. These results suggest that the D375A and R378A mutations are not effective in decreasing the amount of capsule that is expressed on the cell wall of GBS. The results of this data are based on a single experiment consisting of three dilutions, with each dilution performed in triplicate, and therefore further ELISA trials are required to confirm the accuracy of the presented data.



Figure 6. Comparison of levels of capsule present in GBS experimental groups. Capsule levels were calculated using the average of nine ELISA results per group, after subtracting background quantities. Error bars represent the standard error. **, P<0.02. N.S., P>0.10.

3.3 Changes in Cell Wall Morphology

The Fluorescent Vancomycin Assay was performed to determine the effect that the D375A and R378A mutations have on the cell wall morphologies of GBS. If D375 and R378 play a significant role in cell wall stability, then the mutant strains of GBS should display as having abnormal cell wall morphologies. Results of the Fluorescent Vancomycin Assay show that the cell wall morphologies of the Wild-Type-pempty GBS 515 strain are relatively stable, indicated by a bright ring of green fluorescence surrounding the individual cocci (Figure 7A). A *cpsA* deletion in GBS 515 causes cell wall abnormalities and instability, demonstrated by cocci that are equally fluorescent throughout, indicative of a leaky cell wall (Figure 7B). The Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* and $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant*cpsA* GBS 515 strains display varying results, with most cells in the observed fields of view displaying stable cell walls, similar to the results demonstrated by the Wild-Type-pempty GBS 515 strain (Figures 7C and 7D). Further experimentation and analysis is necessary to accurately quantify the overall cell wall stability of the GBS strains.



Figure 7. *Effects of mutations on GBS cell wall morphology.* The cell wall morphologies of Wild-Type-pempty (A), Δ cpsA-pempty (B), Wild-Type-pmutantcpsA (C), and Δ cpsA-pmutantcpsA (D) were observed by fluorescent microscopy after incubating with 1ug/uL BODIPY_FL Vancomycin (ThermoFisher Scientific).

3.4 Zebrafish Survivability Assay

Previous research shows that a cpsA deletion strain of GBS has an attenuated

virulence in a zebrafish model of infection (1). Therefore, cpsA expression and

functionality is shown to be a key determinant in the infectivity of GBS. To test if the D375A and R378A mutations are effective in reducing the virulence of GBS, zebrafish larvae were infected with ~100 CFU of the experimental GBS strains and monitored for their survivability. If the D375A and R378A mutations reduce GBS virulence, then there should be an increased survivability compared to wild-type GBS infected zebrafish. Zebrafish infection results reveal that the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA GBS 515 strain is comparable to the $\triangle cpsA$ -pempty GBS 515, yet to a lesser extent (Figure 8). Twenty-Four hours post-infection, 70% of Wild-Type-pempty, 95% of $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty, and 75% of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA injected zebrafish were alive. However, 48 hours and 72 hours post-infection, while all the Wild-Type-pempty GBS 515-infected fish had succumbed to the infection, 30% of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty, and 25% of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA groups had survived the infection. These results demonstrate that the mutations created in cpsA may influence GBS virulence. The results of this experiment were compiled from a single trial, using 20 zebrafish per experimental group, and therefore the experiment needs to be repeated to confirm the effects of the mutations. Further trials are required to determine if the data is statistically significant.



Figure 8. *Effects of mutations on GBS virulence.* Experimental strains were injected into zebrafish at a volume of 1nl, which was ~100 CFU. Every 24 hours, over a period of 72 hours, living fish were counted and a percentage of the surviving fish was recorded.

4. DISCUSSION

Despite medical advancements, such as pre-screening and intrapartum antibiotic prophylaxis (IAP), GBS infections remain a predominant cause of early-onset disease in neonates (15). Additionally, the incidence of invasive GBS infections in adults has increased over the past eleven years, most likely due to the increase in a prevalence of chronic diseases, such as diabetes and obesity (16). Current treatments for GBS infection include common antibiotics, such as penicillin, administered during labor, delivery, or after diagnosis of GBS infection. Antibiotics, however, are not a lasting treatment as antibiotic resistance becomes more prevalent in GBS populations (16). For this reason, new therapies targeting GBS virulence factors, such as capsular polysaccharide and β -hemolysin, are being researched (17).

The streptococcal CpsA protein is a member of the LytR-CpsA-Psr (LCP) family; a multifunctional family of proteins involved in attaching carbohydrates, capsular polysaccharide, and teichoic acids to the cell wall in various Gram-positive bacterial populations (1). Although the major functions of the LCP family have been identified, the mechanisms by which the LCP family functions is still mostly unknown.

CpsA is a putative transcriptional regulator of the capsule locus and is therefore an integral cog in the capsule-regulating machine. In a previous experiment, an in-frame deletion of *cpsA*, the protein-coding gene of CpsA, was performed in GBS which resulted in reduced levels of capsule (18), reinforcing the significance of the gene. The GBS capsule is one of the key virulence factors contributing to the pathogenicity of GBS. The capsule functions as a protective layer surrounding the cell, aiding in evasion of host immune responses and the binding of host cells. Hanson et al, demonstrated that a $\Delta cpsA$

strain of GBS 515 had reduced levels of capsule, as well as a significantly reduced virulence in a zebrafish infection model (14).

The CpsA protein contains three major domains: an intracellular DNA-binding domain, an extracellular accessory domain, and an extracellular LytR domain. The LytR domain, predicted to be involved in capsular attachment and cell wall stability, was the central focus of this study. Kawai et al elucidated the crystal structure of the LytR domain in the CpsA protein of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and determined which residues were potentially essential to its function (11). In their work, they found a lipid molecule buried in the LytR domain active site, leading them to suggest that this domain may play a key role in the ligation of CPS to the cell wall. Due to the significant homology between S. pneumoniae and GBS, the crystal structure solved by Kawai was used as a guide to discern which residues should be mutated in the GBS cpsA gene. Aspartic Acid-375 and arginine-378 in GBS, correlating to aspartic acid-371 and arginine-374 in S. pneumoniae, are predicted to interact with one another in order to form and stabilize a positively charged pocket containing the phosphate head group of the buried lipid (11). Aspartic Acid is a negatively charged, polar amino acid, and arginine is a positively charged, polar amino acid. Due to the properties of these amino acids, along with the proximity between the two residues as displayed in the Cps2A crystal structure (Figure 3), it is predicted that there may be an attraction between D375 and R378, contributing to the protein-folded structure of CpsA in GBS (11). In this study, D375 and R378 were both mutated to alanine molecules. Alanine is a small, neutral, and hydrophobic molecule. In replacing the two oppositely-charged amino acids with neutral molecules, potential interactions between the original two residues may be decreased, thus reducing the stability of the

phosphate head group interaction with the positively-charged pocket within the LytR active site. In doing so, experimental analysis of the mutant *cpsA* strains can be used to elucidate the mechanism behind the functions of the buried lipid within the LytR domain.

The chain length of GBS is determined by various factors, such as the production of autolysins. All the factors contributing to GBS chain length are not known, however capsular levels have been demonstrated to also be a factor (14). Due to the role that CpsA plays in capsular levels of GBS, microscopy analysis of the *cpsA* mutant strains of this study were performed (Figure 4). Wild-Type-pempty and $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty GBS 515 strains were significantly consistent with the respective short-chain and long-chain phenotypes demonstrated in the literature (14), with a p-value of less than 0.01. In comparing the Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* and $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant*cpsA* GBS strains to the empty plasmid strains, it was determined that the mutant strains were not consistent with the $\Delta cpsA$ pempty GBS 515 strain. Additionally, the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA strain displayed as having an average capsular level like that of the Wild-Type-pempty GBS 515 strain (Figure 6). The comparable results of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA strain to the Wild-Type strain may allude to the failure of the D375A and R378A mutations to significantly affect capsularcell wall interactions within GBS. This, however, is contradicted in the comparison of the Wild-Type-pmutant*cpsA* strain to the Wild-Type-pempty strain. Microscopy results revealed that the average chain length of the Wild-Type-pmutantcpsA strain was still significantly less than that of the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA strain, but slightly larger than the Wild-Type-pempty strain. Although these results are variable, the differences are not substantial enough to resemble the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA strain and additionally, the results

of the chain length analysis are comparable to the expected chain length analysis results of wild-type GBS in previous research (1).

The Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay data of this study similarly demonstrates the ineffectiveness of the mutations to significantly affect capsular interactions that would result in reduced levels of attached capsule. As described in previous literature, $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty GBS 515 strain had significantly reduced levels of capsule when compared to the Wild-Type-pempty strain (Figure 6). Further ELISA trials are required to confirm the accuracy of the presented data.

The LytR domain is predicted to have functions in capsular attachment to the cell wall as well as in cell wall stability. If mutations in the LytR domain reduced the regulation of cell wall stability in GBS, then the cell wall of GBS would be abnormally formed, unstable, and non-uniform. A fluorescent vancomycin assay was performed as a means of visualizing the cell walls of each of the experimental groups (Figure 7). Fluorescently-tagged vancomycin binds to the cell wall of GBS and is unable to penetrate through the bacteria, unless the cell wall is unstable. This is demonstrated in a comparison between the Wild-Type-pempty and $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty GBS 515 strains. The Wild-Type-pempty strain displays as round cocci, with fluorescent green rings surrounding many of the bacteria (Figure 7A). This differs from the $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty GBS 515 strain which demonstrated as having variable results, with many of the cocci fluorescing all throughout, indicating a weak and leaky cell wall (Figure 7B). Results of the mutant strains also reveal varying phenotypes; however, many of the cocci are normal and resemble the Wild-Type-pempty phenotype. This data supports the previous evidence

that the D375A and R378A mutations do not have a significant, negative effect on capsular-cell wall interactions within GBS 515.

Ultimately, *cpsA* mutations are being constructed and analyzed to better understand the function of the GBS CpsA protein in expression of capsular polysaccharide. In doing so, mutated GBS with reduced levels of capsule are not as virulent in hosts that don't have a developed immune system (1). Larval zebrafish infections of mutant GBS were used in this study to test the virulence of the experimental GBS 515 strains. Larval zebrafish are excellent model organisms of infection to demonstrate the effect of pathogens on a host without an adaptive immune system, such as human neonates. In this study, experimental strains of GBS 515 were injected into twenty zebrafish per strain at a volume of 1nl, which was ~100 CFU. The GBS injections were performed in the yolk-sac of the zebrafish to create a systemic GBS infection. The zebrafish were monitored for survivability over a period of 72 hours. As predicted, over a 72-hour period, the Wild-Type-pempty GBS infections led to the complete death of all tested zebrafish and the $\Delta cpsA$ -pempty GBS infections led to a greater level of survivability at a 30% survival rate. Interestingly, the $\Delta cpsA$ -pmutant cpsA GBS strain displayed a 25% survival rate of the infected zebrafish population. The survivability assay was only performed once, and further trials are required to determine if the data is statistically significant.

The lack of significant changes in capsular levels, cell wall stability, and capsular interactions demonstrated in this study confirm that the D375A and R375A mutations were not an effective means of decreasing GBS 515 virulence. Future experimentation to further elucidate the role of the buried lipid in the LytR domain of GBS CpsA would be

to mutate other significant residues that interact to form the positively-charged pocket of the LytR domain. Additionally, mutating amino acid residues that have an attractive relationship (aspartic acid and arginine) to residues that have a repulsive relationship may have an increased effect on altering the folding and functionality of the LytR domain. Research is currently being conducted to further characterize the capsular interactions of GBS and the amino acid residues that are essential to the functions of CpsA (Melody Neely, University of Maine, Orono, ME, USA). In its entirety, the research performed in this study helps to provide additional insights to the function of the LytR domain of the CpsA protein. Specifically, it helps to specify which residues may be key to decreasing the virulence of GBS and may provide information beneficial to the development of future GBS infection treatments.

WORKS CITED

- Rowe HM, Hanson BR, Runft DL, Lin Q, Firestine SM, Neely MN. 2015. Modification of the CpsA protein reveals a role in alteration of the Streptococcus agalactiae cell envelope. Infect Immun 83:1497–1506.
- Barcaite E, Bartusevicius A, Tameliene R, Kliucinskas M, Maleckiene L, Nadisauskiene R. 2008. Prevalence of maternal group B streptococcal colonisation in European countries. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 87:260–271.
- Rosen GH, Randis TM, Desai PV, Sapra KJ, Ma B, Gajer P, Humphrys MS, Ravel J, Gelber SE, Ratner AJ. 2017. Group B Streptococcus and the Vaginal Microbiota. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 216:744–751.
- Nishihara Y, Dangor Z, French N. 2017. Challenges in reducing Group B Streptococcus Disease in African Settings. Archives of Disease in Childhood 102:72-77.
- 5) Skolnik K, Nguyen A, Thornton CS, Waddell B, Williamson T, Rabin HR, Parkins MD. 2017. Group B streptococcus (GBS) is an important pathogen in human disease- but what about in cystic fibrosis? BMC Infectious Diseases 17.
- Walsh JA, Hutchins S. Group B streptococcal disease: its importance in the developing world and prospect for prevention with vaccines. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1989; 8: 271–77.
- 7) Edmond KM, Kortsalioudaki C, Scott S, Schrag SJ, Zaidi AK, Cousens S, Heath PT. 2012. Group B streptococcal disease in infants aged younger than 3 months: systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet 379:547–556.
- Vornhagen J, Adams Waldorf KM, Rajagopal L. 2017. Perinatal Group B Streptococcal Infections: Virulence Factors, Immunity, and Prevention Strategies. Trends in Microbiology 25:919–931.
- 9) Schulfer A, Blaser MJ. 2015. Risks of Antibiotic Exposures Early in Life on the Developing Microbiome. PLOS Pathogens 11: e1004903.
- 10) Hanson BR, Neely MN. 2012. Coordinate regulation of Gram-positive cell surface components. Current Opinion in Microbiology 15:204–210.
- 11) Kawai Y, Marles-Wright J, Cleverley RM, Emmins R, Ishikawa S, Kuwano M, Heinz N, Bui NK, Hoyland CN, Ogasawara N, Lewis RJ, Vollmer W, Daniel RA, Errington J. 2011. A widespread family of bacterial cell wall assembly proteins. The EMBO Journal 30:4931–4941.

- 12) Lewis AL, Nizet V, Varki A. 2004. Discovery and characterization of sialic acid O-acetylation in group B Streptococcus. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 101:11123–11128.
- 13) Rajagopal L. 2009. Understanding the regulation of Group B Streptococcal virulence factors. Future Microbiology 4:201–221.
- 14) Hanson BR, Runft DL, Streeter C, Kumar A, Carion TW, Neely MN. 2012. Functional Analysis of the CpsA Protein of Streptococcus agalactiae. Journal of Bacteriology 194:1668–1678.
- 15) Porta K, Rizzolo D. 2015. Preventing group B streptococcal infections in newborns. Journal of the American Academy of Physician Assistants 28:24–29.
- 16) Francois Watkins LK, McGee L, Schrag SJ, Beall B, Jain JH, Pondo T, Farley MM, Harrison LH, Zansky SM, Baumbach J, Lynfield R, Snippes Vagnone P, Miller LA, Schaffner W, Thomas AR, Watt JP, Petit S, Langley GE. 2019. Epidemiology of Invasive Group B Streptococcal Infections Among Nonpregnant Adults in the United States, 2008-2016. JAMA Internal Medicine 179:479.
- 17) Gendrin C, Merillat S, Vornhagen J, Coleman M, Armistead B, Ngo L, Aggarwal A, Quach P, Berrigan J, Rajagopal L. 2018. Diminished Capsule Exacerbates Virulence, Blood–Brain Barrier Penetration, Intracellular Persistence, and Antibiotic Evasion of Hyperhemolytic Group B Streptococci. The Journal of Infectious Diseases 217:1128–1138.
- 18) Cieslewicz MJ, Kasper DL, Wang Y, Wessels MR. 2000. Functional Analysis in Type Ia Group B Streptococcus of a Cluster of Genes Involved in Extracellular Polysaccharide Production by Diverse Species of Streptococci. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276:139–146.

AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY

Mohammad Fazeel Hashmi was born in Bangor, Maine on February 17th, 1997. He was raised in the town of Veazie, Maine, where he helped his family run their small, family-owned motel. Mohammad graduated from Bangor High School in 2015 and then attended the University of Maine, pursuing a degree in Microbiology and Molecular and Cellular Biology. While at the University of Maine, he maintained an active role in the campus community by serving as an officer for the *Student Heritage Alliance Council, Muslim Students Association, Iota Nu Kappa Multicultural Fraternity,* and the *Campus Activities Board.* Additionally, he participated in both local and widespread service projects with a goal to help better his community and the communities of others.

Upon graduation, Mohammad will continue to develop his research experience and will work as a part-time EMT. Additionally, he will be applying to medical schools, with the hopes of attending in the Fall of 2020.